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MG Shared Services, LLC Doc.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

WILLIAM USCHOLD, et al., Case No0.18-cv-01039-JSC

Plaintiffs,
ORDER RE: MOTION FOR FINAL
v. APPROVAL OF CLASS ACTION
SETTLEMENT AND MOTION FOR
NSMG SHARED SERVICES, LLC, ATTORNEYS' FEES, COSTS, AND
CLASS REPRESENTATIVE
Defendants. INCENTIVE AWARDS

Re: Dkt. Nos. 56, 58

Jose Almendarez, Tyrone Dangerfield, TianglHg, and William Usabid filed this state
law wage-and-hour action on behaffthemselves and othersrsiarly situated against their
employer, NSMG Shared Services, LLAISGMG” or “Defendant”). (Dkt. No. 55¢) Plaintiffs
allege that NSMG violated California law its operation of a comigsion payment system,
among other violations of the {farnia Labor Code. Now before the Court is Plaintiffs’
unopposed motion for attorneys’ fees, (Dkt. No. 8@y motion for final apval of the parties’
class action settlementragment, (Dkt. No. 58). After reviewing the proposed settlement and
with the benefit of the filapproval hearing on March 8020, the Court GRANTS the motion
for final approval and GRANTS IN PART the tran for attorneys’ fees and costs.

BACKGROUND
l. The Parties

Defendant NSMG is a limited liability cporation organized und@&elaware law; the

! Record citations are to materialthe Electronic Case File (“ECF’pinpoint citdions are to the
ECF-generated page numbershat top of the documents.

2 All parties have consented tiwe jurisdiction of a magistrajadge pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §
636(c). (Dkt. Nos. 9, 16, 60.)
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company maintains its principal place of businagdouston Texas. (Dkt. No. 4 at 11 3-4.)
“NSMG employs individuals who provide funeaid burial related sers throughout the Bay
Area.” (Dkt. No. 24 at 2.) Plaiifits are former employees 6fSMG. (Dkt. No. 55 at 1 19-22.)
I. Complaint Allegations

NSMG paid Plaintiffs using a&commission payment system.ld( at § 2.) Commission-
earning employees were requiredneet a weekly sales quotagarn the required number of
“points” under the system.d; at 1 3.) If an employee failéd earn enough points to meet the
guota in a given week, “the shatifcarried into the following @ek” and was added to the regular
weekly requirement. |d. at 11 3-4.) Employees could resrn a commission until they had
satisfied the weekly quota and anysfall from the pevious week. I¢. at § 5.) If an employee
“exceeded the quota, the excess commission points megther paid nor accumulated to offset
further weeks.” Id. at  6.) Plaintiffs @l not know the terms of ¢hcommission payment system
or how it operated until sevém@onths into employment.Id. at § 7.) Further, NSMG *“failed to
ever adequately explain the compensati@tiesy and obtain a written agreement from each
commission-earning employee reflecting altlod material terms and conditions of the
commission structure.”ld.)

NSMG further violated the California bar Code by requiring commission-earning
employees that earned hourly wages to wookf‘6f the clock’ withoutcompensation” for hours
spent “on call, responding to calls from cleand employees,” andeht-related travel and
meetings. Ifl. at 1 8.) Additionally, NSMG misclags&id commission-earning employees “under
the outside sales overtime exempticesulting in the failure tpay minimum wage and overtime
premium wages.” I{l. at 1 9.) NSMG also knew or requdrthat its employeetse[ ] personal
property for work including persoheehicles for travel to meetith clients and prospective
clients and personal cell phones for business calld.”a{  10.) However, NSMG did not
“reimburse all necessary aneaisonable business expensesgaired by California law.” 1€. at
1 11.) NSMG also failed to provide “legallyropliant meal and rest geds” and accurate wage
statements, and “misclassified outsgddes employees as exemptd. @t 9 40-43.) In addition

to violating the California Labor Code, NSMGists “constitute unlawful and unfair business
2
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practices in violation of Caldirnia Unfair Competition Laws” (“UCL”"), California Business &
Professions Code § 17200d.(at 1 13.)

Plaintiffs “seek unpaid wages, reimbursetir necessary and reasonable business
expenses, statutory penalties, injuve relief, attorneys’ feesnal costs, prejudgment interest, and
other relief the court may deempappriate,” as well as civil petiees under the Private Attorneys
General Act (“PAGA”), Cal. Lab. Code § 2698d.(at 11 14-15.)

[ll.  The Settlement Agreement

A. The Class

The class consists of “all grioyees paid commissions by Deflant . . . at any time from
January 17, 2014” through October 8, 2019, the dapeaediminary approval of the settlement.
(Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 1 10.) There are 449 clasmbers. (Dkt. No. 63, Ex. Bat 15.) As of
February 25, 2020, none of the class members have optedioat,f( 11), and only one class
member has objected to theétament, (Dkt. No. 61).

B. PaymentTerms

Defendant agrees to pay $2.2 million (“GsdSettlement Amounttp the Settlement
Administrator, who will deposit thatmount in a qualified settlemefund. (Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A
at 11 37-40.) The following will be deductedrfrahe Gross Settlement Amount: (1) payment of
$33,000 to the Labor Workforce Developmenteagy (“LWDA”) to settle the PAGA claim
asserted in the FAC; (2) tisettlement Administrator’s feesd costs, not exceeding $9,000.00;
(3) Plaintiffs’ attorneys’ fees (not excerd $736,200.00 (representingesthird of the Gross
Settlement Amount)) and costs (not exceedi2@,$00.00); (4) “Defendant’s estimated share of
applicable payroll taxes to be paid on théividual settlement paymesy; and (5) “Service
Awards” of $2,000.00 to each of theur named Plaintiffs. I¢. at ] 41, 53, 54, 60, 68.) The
remainder following those deductions consétuthe “Net Settleent Amount” from which
individual class members will be paid (“Class Settlement Paymentd?)at (] 41-42.)

In support of final approval, Plaintiffs suldrthe declaration adarrod Salinas, Case
Manager for Settlement AdministaatSimpluris, who attests that as of February 25, 2020, the |

Settlement Amount is estimatémlbe $1,308,298.17. (Dkt. No. 63.B at § 13.) That amount
3
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reflects the Gross Settlement Aont ($2,200,000) minusetfollowing: (1) attorneys’ fees and
costs not to exceed $736,200 and $20,000, respsact{2el$7,500 in Settleent Administrator
fees; (3) $8,000 in Service Awards; (4) $33,00@AGA penalties to the LWDA; and (5)
87,001.83 in “maximum empyer payroll taxes?® (Id.)

1. ClassSettlementPayments

The individual Class Settlement Paymentsclass members will be calculated as follows:

(a) Each Class Member’'s “Totahdividual Workweeks” will be
determined on a pro-rata basis determined by the number of
workweeks each Class Member workethe state of California from
January 17, 2014 through the datepoéliminary approval of the
settlement.

(b) The Total Individual Workweekfor each Class Member will be
aggregated to determine the “Total Class Gross Workweeks.”

(c) The estimated Individual Settlement Payment for each Class
Member set forth in the Class Notiadl be based on: (a) each Class
Member’s Total Individual Workweks; (b) divided by the aggregate

number of Total Class Gross Wor&eks of all Class Members; (c)
multiplied by the value athe Net Settlement Amount.

(Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 1 42(a)-(c).) In othernds, each class member will receive a pro-rata
share of the Net Settlemefimount based on the numberwéeks the individual worked
compared to the number of weeksrked by all class members.

One-third of each Class Settlement Paymentagatied to wages, which are “subject to a
applicable wage laws, includirdgderal, state and local taxtivholding and payroll taxes, and
shall be reported on Form W-2.1d( at § 49see alsdkt. No. 58-3, Ex. C at 18 (“IRS W2 Forms
will be issued to Class Members for the paytseatiocated to payment of wages.”).) The
Settlement Administrator will issue the wage/pents and calculate and withhold “all required

federal, state and local taxes.” (Dkt. No. 5&#%, A at § 49.) The remaining portion of each

3 The Net Settlement Amount will increase, lewer, given that Class Counsel requests $186,2(
less in attorneys’ fees thaime $736,200 provided for under tBettlement AgreementSéeDkt.
No. 56 at 6 (requesting $550,000 in fee§ihilarly, Class Counsel requests $12,431.44 in
litigation costs, which is $7,568.56 less ttiha $20,000 provided for under the Settlement
Agreement. $ee id. Thus, the actual Net Settlement dmmt will exceed $1,500,000.

4 The Settlement Agreement provides thatédfd] Class Member’s Total Individual Workweeks
will be determined by reference to [Defendant&jards, subject to each Class Member’s right t
submit evidence in support of disputed claim@kt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at § 42(c).)
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Class Settlement Payment is divided evenly-e-tinrd allocated to ierest and one-third
allocated to penalties “and other noage damages sought in the Actionld. Those payments
“will not have withholdings deducted”; instedtlRS 1099 Forms will be issued” to class
members. (Dkt. No. 58-3, Ex. C at 18.) €€lanembers are ultimateiyesponsible for the
appropriate payment of any fedé state and/or local inconoe payroll taxes on the Class
Settlement Payments they receive and agreelamnify and hold harmless Defendant for any ta
liability arising out ofor relating to” a class member’s itizre to pay taxes on any amounts paid
pursuant to [the] Settlement Agreerh&nDkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at { 50.)

Mr. Salinas attests that aEFebruary 25, 2020, the highesdividual settlement payment
to be distributed to the 449 class membBerapproximately $9,236.48 and the average [paymer
is approximately $2,913.80.”(Dkt. No. 63, Ex. B at 1 13 (ghasis omitted).) The Settlement
Administrator will mail Class Settlement Payntehy check to individual class members within
ten days of the “Effective Daté.”(Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at § 43.) The face of each check will
state that it “must be cashed or deposited within” 180 days, and all payments will include a ¢
letter stating the sameld() If a class member does not castdeposit his or her check within
120 days of mailing, the Settlement Administratdli notify the class member by letter or
postcard that the check will expire and becomd ifat is not “cashed odeposited within the
remaining two months.”1d. at  44.) No later than 30 dagfier the 180-day period has passed,
Plaintiffs’ counsel “wil report to the Court # total amount” paid to class members and any
amount remaining in the quidid settlement fund.Id. at § 63.) The Settlement Agreement
provides that the remainiragmount will be distributedy presas follows: fifty percent to the
charitable organization “Foundation for Advocacglusion and Resourcediventy-five percent

to the California State Treaguifor deposit in the Trial Cotimprovement and Modernization

5> As previously discussed, theerage individual payment will¢gnease given that Class Counsel
requests over $193,000 less than the fees andprosiged for under the 8&ment Agreement.
gSeeDkt. No. 56 at 6.)

The Settlement Agreement defines “Effectiveédas the later of: f{ March 31, 2019, (ii)
sixty-five (65) calendar days aftthe entry of the FidaApproval Order(s) if no appeal or motion
to set aside and vacate judgmerftlegd, or (iii) ten (10) business ga after the final resolution of
appeal or motion to set asidad vacate judgment if any sueiotion or appeal is filed and
unsuccessful.” (Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 1 14.)
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Fund”; and twenty-five percent “to the State &g for deposit into the Equal Access Fund of
the Judicial Branch.”1d.) Plaintiffs assert it neither they nor Cés Counsel “have any known
relationships with any of they presrecipients.” (Dkt. No. 58 dt2.) However, Plaintiffs “now
contend that the State of California is the naggiropriate recipient farnclaimed property,” and
Class Counsel “cannot present a strong argumesutpport of distributing unclaimed settlement
funds to any entity other [thatije State of California.”Id.) No settlement funds will revert to
Defendant. (Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 1 37.)

C. Notice

Class Counsel Mr. Benjamin attests ttodibwing the Court’s October 2019 order grantin
preliminary approval (“Preliminary Approval Orderthe Settlement Administrator, Simpluris,
“received the class data file from defense ceynshich contained the name, social security
number, last known mailing addressid other information sufficiemd ensure adequate efforts
were made to notify each known stamember.” (Dkt. No. 58-3 §t6.) Simpluris Case Manager
Mr. Salinas attests th& mpluris received thelass list containing datar 449 class members on
November 8, 2019. (Dkt. No. 63, Ex. B at { Simpluris “processed angpdated” the Class List
using the National Change of Address Databagataiaed by the U.S. Postal Service (“USPS”)
and mailed the Notice to tHl9 class members on Novemhté&r 2019 via first class mailld( at
19 6-7.) 32 Notice packets werturned by the USPS with foarding address information, and
Simpluris re-mailed thosdotice packets to the forwarding adsise (Dkt. No. 63, Ex. B at 1 9.)
29 Notice packets were “returned by the USBSindeliverable and without a forwarding
address.” Id. at § 10.) “Simpluris performed an advanegldiress search (i.e.igkrace) on all of
these addresses by using Accurint,” which utilitesl class member’s name, prior address, and
social security number.Id.) Simpluris located 24 updateddresses using this method and
mailed the Notice to those addressdd.) (As of February 252020, five Notices remain
“‘undeliverable because Simpluris was bleao locate a current addressltl.f

The Notice advised class members of thedtiees for opting oudr objecting to the
settlement (January 14, 2020) and the origiiad of the final appwval hearing (February 20,

2020), as well as how members could obtain amfehti information about thsettlement. (Dkt.
6




United States District Court
Northern District of Califorra

© 00 N oo o b~ w N P

N N N N DN DN DN NN R R R R R R R R R R
o ~N o U~ W N P O © 0 N O U~ W N B O

No. 58-3, Ex. C.) The Notice also included a desian of the lawsuit with an overview of the
allegations and claims; a summafythe settlement amountsitlistribution, and the methodology
for calculating the individual Class Settlem&atyments; and the release of claimd. gt 14-21.)
The Notice informed class members of their “Rggand Options”; specifically: (1) participate in
the settlement by doing nothing asmatomatically receiving a Class Settlement Payment; or (2)
opt-out by mailing a written and signed “Exsion Request” to the Settlement Administrator
within 60 days of the mailing of éhNotice; or (3) object to thetlement by mailing a “Notice of
Objection” to the Court within 60 gta of the mailing of the Noticeld. at 20-21.) The Notice
also informed class members that they may attieadinal approval hearg in person or through
an attorney but are not required to do dd. 4t 21.) The Notice progted Class Counsel and the
Settlement Administrator’s contact informatiamdethe web address for the settlement website
created by Class Counseld.(at 15, 17.) The website providesormation regarding the lawsuit
and settlement, “upcoming courttds,” and makes available several filings, including the Notic
Settlement Agreement, Plaintiffs’ motion for atteys’ fees and costs, and the Preliminary
Approval Order.Seehttps://northstarsettlement.com/settlement-documents.

Class Counsel attests that on JanuarR @80, after the deadlirfer opting out or
objecting, Simpluris confirmed “thatne of the class members hadeabbut or objected to the . .
. settlement.” (Dkt. No. 58-3 at 1 8.) HowevE€lass Counsel also “discovered on January 15,
2020 that the Court’s [PreliminaApproval] Order had not beerristly followed”; specifically,

the Notice did not include thelfowing Court-ordered language:

Class counsel will apply in wing to the Court on or before
November 4, 2019 for their requestdtbrneys’ fees and costs. Their
application will be available on the Settlement website:
www.NorthstarSettlement.com withione day of its filing or upon
request to Class Counsel. You mayeabjto the attorneys’ fees and
costs sought no later than [60ydaafter Notice is mailed] in
accordance with Section 22 of this Notice.

(Id. at 11 9-10see alsdkt. No. 54 at 20 (emphasis omd)e) Upon discovering this omission,
“Mr. Benjamin instructed Simpluris to mail @adlditional notice” (“Attoreys’ Fees Notice”) to
class members explaining that Plaintiffs’ motfonattorneys’ fees “as filed on November 4,

2019 seeking fees in the amount of $550,000 nd tlaat the Court wiltonsider Plaintiffs’
7
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motion at a hearing scheduled for February 202" (Dkt. No. 58-3 af 11.) The Attorneys’
Fees Notice directs class members to the settiemebsite to review the motion and informs
class members that they should submit to therOwritten objections to the motion at their
“earliest opportunity, or at the hearing scheddted-ebruary 20, 2020.” (Dkt. No. 58-3, Ex. C a
13).

Simpluris mailed the Attorneys’ Fees Nmito class members danuary 23, 2020. (Dkt.
No. 63, Ex. B at 1 8.) In accordance with the Court’s order on February 18, 2020, which
continued the final approval hearing to Mak 2020, Class Counsel updated the settlement
website to include the actual Notice maileatss members and provide notice that the final
approval hearing was rescheduled to March 5, 2020. (Dkt. No.163.atAs of February 25,
2020, Simpluris had “received no requests for@sioin from the Settlaent” or objections. (Id.
at 11 11-12.)

D. Release

Class members agree to rele®@efendant from all claims, wihnetr state or federal, arising

at any point during the “Segtinent Period” (defined as January 17, 2014 through the date of

preliminary approval—October 8, 2019) that are dsedan the amended complaint or could have

been asserted based on the same nucleus @tiopdacts. (Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at [ 13, 96-
100.) In addition, the named Plaifgilagree to releasel alaims “that were or could have been
asserted by Plaintiffs which agi®ut of or relate in any wayg their employment with NSMG,”
and a general release of all clai(ft® the fullest extent thegnay be released under applicable
law”) that arise “prior to the last day of the Settlement Perioul” af 1 101-02.) To effectuate
the general release, [dMitiffs expressly waive and relincli all rights andbenefits [under]
California Civil Code section 1542."1d; at 1 103.)
lll.  Procedural History

Plaintiffs Tyrone Dangerfieldnd William Uschold initiated this action in the Superior

Court of California for th&€€ounty of Alameda on January 018, asserting five claims for

" As discussethfra Discussion Section 1.B.3, the Courteéved one objection concerning Class
Counsel’s attorneys’ fees.

8
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relief: (1) unlawful collection of wages earnedviolation of Californa Labor Code § 221; (2)
unauthorized deductions in violation of Califorhiabor Code § 224; (3) fare to reimburse for
all necessary and reasonable besgexpenses in violation of l@arnia Labor Code § 2802; (4)
failure to pay wages in violation of Californiabor Code § 510 et se@nd (5) violation of
California Business & Professions Code 8§ 17200kt.(No. 1, Ex. A.) Defendant answered the
complaint on February 15, 2018 and removeddase to this District on February 16, 2018,
pursuant to the Class Action Fairness Ac2@d5 (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C. 88 1332(d), 1453. (Dkt.
No.latl)

The parties participated in private magtbn on October 24, 2018 @ February 5, 2019 but
were unable to reach a settlement agreement.. NRkt56-1 at {1 3, 11.) €lparties continued to
negotiate, however, and on March 8, 2019, Plairfii#g a Notice of Settlement. (Dkt. No. 36.)
The terms of the settlement agreement are memathizthe parties’ Joint Stipulation of Class
Settlement and Release (theettement Agreement”). SgeDkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A.)

On October 8, 2019, the undersigned grantegaénges’ amended matn for preliminary
approval of the Settlement Agreement. (D¥b. 54.) The Preliminary Approval Order appointe

Na'il Benjamin and Allyssa Villanueva of Bg@amin Law Group, P.C. as Class Counsel and

directed them to file a motiageeking approval of attorney®ds and costs by November 4, 2019,

(Id. at 22.) Class Counsel did s&e€eDkt. No. 56.) The Order further set the date for a final
approval hearing on February 20, 2020 and direCtads Counsel to filgs motion for final
approval no later than 35 days beftirat date. (Dkt. No. 54 at 22-23.)

Pursuant to the Settlement AgreemeseeDkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at  19), Plaintiffs filed
an amended complaint on October 29, 2019 (“FA&dding Plaintiffs Jose Almendarez and
Tiana Naples,qeeDkt. No. 55). The FAC also adds néxctual allegations and additional claims
that will be settled and releaseddhgh the Settlement Agreemen&egd.; see alsdkt. No. 58-
1, Ex. Aat 1119, 33.) The FAC brings claims {d): Unlawful Collectionof Wages Earned, Cal.
Lab. Code § 221; (2) Unauthoriz&duction, Cal. Lab. Code § 2248) Failure to Reimburse for
Necessary and Reasonable Business Expendiaéd,.ab. Code § 2802; (4) Failure to Pay

Wages, Cal. Lab. Code 88 510, 1174; (5) BrezdBontract; (6) Fraud — Intentional
9
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Misrepresentation; (7) Fraud —I5@a Promise; (8) Failure to PMinimum Wages, Cal. Lab. Code
88 1194, 1197; (9) Failure to Pide Meal Periods, Cal. Lab. Code 88 226.7, 512, 1198; (10)
Failure to Provide Rest Periods, Cal. Labd€ 88 226.7, 1198 and applicalage Orders; (11)
Failure to Provide Accurate Wage Stateme@td. Lab. Code 88 226, 226.3; (12) Failure to
Timely Pay Wages, Cal. Lab. Code § 204; (13) Faito Timely Pay AlFinal Wages, Cal. Lab.
Code 8§ 201-203; (14) violation of the UCL, CRlsiness & Professiordode § 17200; and (15)
violation of the PAGA, Cal. Lab. Code 8§ 2688seq. (Dkt. No. 55 at 1-2.) The FAC tracks the
Settlement Agreement’s languaget@she proposed class apwposes 11 subclasses covering
the additional claims set forth in the FAQd.(at 1 44 (“Plaintiffs believéhat many or most Class
members are members of all subclasses.”).) mefiet answered the FAC and denies liability as
to each claim. ee generall{pkt. No. 57.)

Plaintiffs filed the instanmotion for final approval odanuary 16, 2020, (Dkt. No. 58).
Upon review of Plaintiffs’ submgons, the Court determined that further information was need
and issued an order vacating the hearing scheduled for February 20, 2020 and continuing it
March 5, 2020, and directing Pl&ffs to file supplenental materials and upathe settlement
website in accordance withe Court’s Order. SeeDkt. No. 62.) Plaintiffs filed the requested
materials on February 25, 2020 and the Codd tiee final approval hearing as scheduled on
March 5, 2020.

DISCUSSION

A class action settlement mumst fair, adequatend reasonable. Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(e)(2).
Where, as here, parties reach an agreementebeltss certification, “courts must peruse the
proposed compromise to ratifypth the propriety of the ceithtion and the fairness of the
settlement.” Staton v. Boeing C0327 F.3d 938, 952 (9th Cir. 2003). The approval of a class
action settlement takes place in tatages. In the first stage of the approval process, the Court
preliminarily approves the settlement pending a fasrteearing, temporarigertifies a settlement
class, and authorizes notice to the clése Villegas v. J.P. Morgan Chase & (0¥o. CV 09—
00261 SBA (EMC), 2012 WL 5878390, at *5 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 21, 2012). The Court has done

here. SeeDkt. No. 54.)
10
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At the second stage, “after notice is givemputative class members, the Court entertaing
any of their objections to (1) theeatment of the litigation as a class action and/or (2) the termg of
the settlement.”Ontiveros v. Zamora303 F.R.D. 356, 363 (E.D. Cal. Oct. 8, 2014) (ciihgz v.
Tr. Territory of Pac. Islands876 F.2d 1401, 1408 (9th Cir. 1989)). Here, the Court is in receigt
of one objection regarding Class Couisattorneys’ fees and costseéDkt. No. 61), and
addresses that objection below. Following thalffairness hearing, theoGrt must reach a final
determination as to whether the parties shouldllogved to settle the class action pursuant to
their agreed upon term&ee Nat'| Rural Telecomms. Coop. v. DIRECTV, k1 F.R.D. 523,
525 (C.D. Cal. 2004).

l. Motion for Final Approval
A. Final Certification of the Settlement Class

Class actions must meet the follogyirequirements for certification:

(1) the class is so numerous that joinder of all members is
impracticable; (2) therare questions of law dact common to the
class; (3) the claims or defensekthe representative parties are
typical of the claims or defeas of the class; and (4) the
representative parties will fairly and adequately protect the interests
of the class.

Fed. R. Civ. P. 23(a). In additi to meeting the requirementsRiile 23(a), a putative class
action must also meet one oétbonditions outlined in Rule 23¢—as relevant here, the condition
that “questions of law or factommon to class members predoateover any questions affecting
only individual members, and thafclass action is superito other available methods for fairly
and efficiently adjudicating the controversy.” d=®. Civ. P. 23(b)(3). Prior to certifying the
class, the Court must determine that Plaintifigehsatisfied their burden demonstrating that the
proposed class satisfieaah element of Rule 23.
1. Rule23(a) Requirements

The Preliminary Approval Order found thhe putative class satisfied the numerosity,
commonality, typicality, and adeqguyaof representation requirementsder Rule 23(a). (Dkt. No.
54 at 9-10.) Since that time, the Court is uaeof any developments that would change its

analysis, and neither Plaintiffs nor Defendant has indicated thatisuelopments have occurred.
11
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Further, nothing in the amendedmplaint changes the Court’s previous analysis. Accordingly,
the Rule 23(a) requirements are met.
2. Rule 23(b) Requirements

The Preliminary Approval Order likewiseund that the prerequisites of Rule 23(b)(3)
were satisfied. I¢. at 10-12.) The Court is unaware ofyachanges that would alter its analysis,
and there was no indication in Plaintiffs’ paperst the fairness hearing that any such
developments had occurred. Further, the onjgation the Court received concerns the award @
attorneys’ fees,seeDkt. No. 61); there were no objemtis by individuatlass members who
claim to have an interest in controlling the mogtion of this action arlated actions. Finally,
the additional Plaintiffs and dfas in the amended complaint dot alter the Court’s previous
determination that there are no predominancguperiority concernfiecause the challenged
employment practices are comntorall class members based oa thstinct subclasses set forth
in the FAC. GeeDkt. No. 55 at 1 44.) Accordinglthe Rule 23(b) requirements are met.

3. Rule 23(c)(2) Notice Requirements

If the Court certifies a class under Rule 23(R)3'must direct taclass members the best
notice that is practicable undie circumstances, including imttiual notice to all members who
can be identified through reasd@ effort.” Fed. R. Civ. P23(c)(2)(B). Rule 23(c)(2) governs
both the form and content of the noticeee Ravens v. Iftikat74 F.R.D. 651, 658 (N.D. Cal.
1997). Although the notice must freasonably certain to infortie absent members of the
plaintiff class,” Rle 23 does not require actual noticgilber v. Mabon18 F.3d 1449, 1454 (9th
Cir. 1994) (internal quotation marksd citation omitted).

As noted in the Prelimary Approval Order, the ige requirements under Rule
23(c)(2)(B) are met here. The fite describes the allegatioasd claims in plain languade,
defines a class member, inclgd®ntact information for ClasCounsel and the Settlement

Administrator, and summarizes the settlenmambunt and its distributio The Notice further

8 The Notice’s description of the allegationmglaclaims itemizes ninallegations that roughly
encompass the 15 claims brought in the F&xeept for the PAGA and UCL claims, which are
otherwise noted in the Notice’s list of stis that Defendantlagedly violated. $eeDkt. No.
58-3, Ex. C at 14-21.)
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describes the options available to class membwisiding instructiongor opting out of the
settlement and filing an objectioft also informs class membersthreceiving a sdement award
will release certain claims against certain parties and defines both “Released Claims” and
“‘Released Parties.” The Notice informs class menskhat they may appeat the final fairness
hearing in person or through an attorneged generall{pkt. No. 53-8, Ex. Gt 1-8.) Finally, it
directs class members to a websvith more information, incding the settlement documents,
motion for attorneys’ fees, aqdeadings. And although the Notidees not include the language
set forth in the Preliminary Approval Ordegegding how class members can review Class
Counsel’s request for attays’ fees and costssd€eDkt. No. 54 at 20), Class Counsel corrected
that deficiency by directing thgettlement Administrator to mdd class members the Attorneys’
Fees Notice, which Simplis did on January 23, 202&eeDkt. No. 63 at | 4).

The Court is satisfied that the content @ Nhotice was sufficient under Rule 23(c)(2)(B).
SeeChurchill Village, L.L.C. v. General Electri@61 F.3d 566, 575 (9th Cir. 2004) (“Notice is
satisfactory if it generally desbes the terms of the settlemensirfficient detail to alert those
with adverse viewpoints to invigate and to come forward abé heard.”) (internal quotation
marks and citation omitted).

-

Because the settlement class satisfies RABés) and 23(b)(3), and notice was sufficient i
accordance with Rule 23(c), the Cogrants final classertification.

B. Approval of the Settlement

Having certified the settlemealass, the Court now addresses whether the terms of the
parties’ settlement are famgdequate, and reasonable uridele 23(e). In making this
determination, courts generally sticonsider the following factsr“(1) the strength of the
plaintiff's case; (2) the risk, expense, complhgxénd likely duration of ftther litigation; (3) the
risk of maintaining class acin status throughout the trial; @e amount offer@in settlement;

(5) the extent of discovery completed anddtage of the proceedings; (6) the experience and
views of counsel; (7) the presence of a governaigrarticipant; ad (8) the reaction of the class

members to the proposed settlemer@turchill, 361 F.3d at 575. “This list is not exclusive and
13
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different factors may predominatedifferent factual contexts.Torrisi v. Tucson Elec. Power
Co, 8 F.3d 1370, 1376 (9th Cir. 1993). Howeveregwha settlement agreement is negotiated
prior to formal class certificatiomonsideration of these eight . . ctiars alone is fisufficient].”
In re Bluetooth Headset Prods. Liab. Liti§54 F.3d 935, 946 (9th Cir. 2011). In such cases,
courts must also ensure thhaé settlement did not res@ilom collusion among the partietd. at
946-47.

As discussed below, a review of the fairnessBinétoothfactors indicates that the
settlement is fair, adgiate, and reasonable.

1. The Fairness Factors

a. Strength of Plaintiffs’ Case ad Risk, Expense, Complexity, and
Likely Duration of Further Litigation

The Court first considers “the strengthtloé [P]laintiffs’ case on the merits balanced
against the amount offered in the settlemefge DIRECTV, Inc221 F.R.D. at 526 (internal
guotation marks and citation omitfe Although this action reachséttlement before the Court
had occasion to consider the merits of Plairitdfaims, the Court need not reach an ultimate
conclusion about the merits ofetldispute now, “for it is the v uncertainty of outcome in
litigation and avoidance of wastgfand expensive litigation thatduce consensual settlements.”
Officers for Justice v. @il Serv. Comm’n of City & Cty. of San Francisé88 F.2d 615, 625 (9th
Cir. 1982). To that end, therens “particular formula by which fg] outcome must be tested.”
Rodriguez v. W. Publ'g Corp563 F.3d 948, 965 (9th Cir. 200Rather, the Court’'s assessment
of the likelihood of success is “nothing mahan an amalgam of tieate balancing, gross
approximations and rough justiceld. (internal quotation marksd citation omitted). “In
reality, parties, counsel, mediadpand district judges naturablyrive at a reasonable range for
settlement by considering the likelihood of a pldis’ or defense verdict, the potential recovery,
and the chances of obtaining it, discounted to a present vdtlie.”

Here, the FAC alleges multiple Labor Cadelations, common law fraud and breach of
contract claims, and claimsder the UCL and PAGA.Sge generallpkt. No. 55.) Although

Plaintiffs believe theiclaims are meritorious, Clas®ansel Ms. Villanueva'’s declaration
14
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discusses Defendant’s specific argents and potential defenses regarding the meal claims, reg
claims, unpaid wage claims, reimbursmt claims, and fraud claimsSgeDkt. No. 58-1 at 1
13(b)(i)-(v).) Defendant’s answer to the FAKewise denies liability on every claimSéeDkt.

No. 57 at 9-14.) Ms. Villanueva attests thatidgiisettlement negotiatns Defendant presented
argument and evidence that “would present an upHtilebat class certification and at trial.td(

at 1 13(b)(iii) (discussing defises to unpaid wage claif® alleged misassification;see also id.
at 11 13(b)(i),(ii),(iv) (discussindefenses on the merits and tossl@ertification).) According to
Ms. Villanueva, Defendant also argued that evdtafntiffs were to succeed on the merits as to
some claims, any exposure “would be minimal™must be significatly discounted.” Id. at 1
13(i),(ii) (discussing meal and redaims).) Class Counsel Mr. Bjamin attests to “significant
legal uncertainties associated with Plaintiffs’ahperiod and off-the-cldcclaims as well as the
prayer for punitive damages foritful” violations.” (Dkt. No. 56-2 at  25.) Mr. Benjamin
further attests that “[e]videngeoved that Defendant was compliant for at least certain time
periods within the Class peri@hd with certain putative Class members,” thus “abridging the
scope and duration of someRifaintiffs’ claims.” (d.)

Given the risks and costs of continued litiga, the immediate reward to class members
through settlement is preferable. Class memsiwill receive a pro-rata share of the Net
Settlement Amount based on the number of wésksndividual worked compared to the numbe
of weeks worked by all class memberSe¢Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 1%2(a)-(c).) The average
class member payout is $2,913.8ithwthe highest payment estited at $9,236.48. (Dkt. No. 63,
Ex. B at { 13 (emphasis omitted).) The benefitegkiving this money now rather than later at
some unidentified and uncertaime has its own value.

The challenges Plaintiffs would face shoul$ ttase move forward stead of settling, in
contrast to the finality and speetlirecovery under the partiesjreement, weighs in favor of
approving the settlement.

b. Risk of Maintaining Class Action Status Throughout Trial
In considering the third factor, the Court loa&ghe risk of maintaing class certification

if the litigation were to proceed. As discussdve, NSMG has peesented that it will present
15
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evidence opposing class certificatiamd that Plaintiffs’ meal anest break, unpaid wage claims
for alleged misclassification, andméursement claims will be ditfult to prove on a class-wide
basis. (Dkt. No. 58-1 &1 13(b)(i)-(iv).) In light of these fliculties in certifying the class, the
Court finds that this factor weigls favor of approvng the settlement.

c. Settlement Amount

The fourth fairness factor,élamount of recovery offeredsalfavors final approval of the
settlement. When considering tlaérness and adequacy of the amouoiffii¢ered in settlement, “it is
the complete package taken astelg, rather than the individual component parts, that must bg
examined for overall fairnessDIRECTV, Inc. 221 F.R.D. at 527. “[l]t is well-settled law that a
proposed settlement may be accblgaven though it amounts to only a fraction of the potentia
recovery that might be available to the class members at tltal(tollecting cases).

The Settlement Administratestimates thahe Net Settlement Amount is $1,308,298.17
after deducting attorneyfes and litigation costs, incentigevards, administration fees, paymen
to LWDA, and payroll taxes from the Gross Settlement Amouf2¢200,000. (Dkt. No. 63, Ex.
B at 1 13.) The Settlement Admitretor further estimas that the average individual settlement
payment “is approximately $2,913.80.Id{) Class Counsel attests tlilaé parties agree that the
value of the claims “is betwe&® Million and $11 Millon.” (Dkt. No. 58-1 at { 15.) Thus, the
Net Settlement Amount reflects a 12% recovery of the high-end éstohpotential damages. In
granting preliminary approval theoGrt concluded that the estimdtpayout to class members wa
fair in relation to the risk of continued litigation,sgeDkt. No. 54 at 17-18), and there is nothing
in the final approval materials that changes tbar€s analysis on that score. Further, and as
previously discussed, the Net Settlementotumt will increase becae Class Counsel is
requesting over $193,000.00 less than is providedrider Settlement Agreamt for attorneys’
fees and litigaon costs.

Finally, no class member has opted outhefsettlement. Attough class members were
not required to submit a claim tecover, that “the overwhelmingajority of the class willingly
approved the offer and stayed in the class ptesgrieast some objective positive commentary g

to its fairness.”Hanlon v. Chrysler Corp.150 F.3d 1011, 1027 (9th Cir. 1998yerruled on
16
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other grounds by Wal-Mart Stores, Inc. v. Duke&4 U.S. 338 (2011). The Court therefore
concludes that the amount afd in settlement also weighsfavor of final approval.
d. Extent of Discovery Competed and Stage of Proceedings

In the context of class action settlementdpag as the parties have sufficient information

to make an informed decisiob@ut settlement, “formal discovery is not a necessary ticket to the

bargaining table.”Linney v. Cellular Alaska P’shjd51 F.3d 1234, 1239 (9th Cir. 1998). Rathe
a court’s focus is on whether “the parties cdtgfnvestigated the claims before reaching a
resolution.” Ontiveros 303 F.R.D. at 371. Here, the partea€hanged discovery in advance of
private mediation with an experieed mediator in October 2018SgeDkt. No. 58-1 at § 3.)
After the first mediation was unsuccessful, the padgent several monthsgaging in additional,
extensive discovery in preparation for dre@tround of mediation in February 201%d. @t 1 4-
11.) NSMG provided Plaintiffs with discoverggarding the number afass members, its
policies and procedures, timekeeputata, and payroll datald(at § 7.) The parties thereafter
participated in another round pfivate mediation and continuéal negotiate before reaching a
settlement agreement in March 2018l. at 1 11-16.) Under thesgcumstances, the extent of
discovery in this case favoapproval of the settlement.
e. Experience and Views of Counsel

The experience and views of counsel als@tvén favor of approving the settlement.
Class Counsel Mr. Benjamin attests thahhs experience litigatinglass actions, including
“employment law class actions.’S¢eDkt. No. 56-2 at ] 4-6.) He has also “tried close to a
dozen matters,” including emploent matters, and has experiefitgating and resolving wage-
and-hour claims under the I@arnia Labor Code. Ifl. at 1 8-9.) Mr. Benjam'’s firm focuses on
“Labor and Employment mattérand it has “resolved moitdan 300 [p]laintiff's-side
employment matters,” including “multi-plaintiff rttars, representative actions, and matters that
had the potential to be class medtbut . . . were resolved indlilually due to the individualized
nature of the clients’ claims.”Id. at § 10.) Class Counsel Ms. Villanueva has nearly four years
experience litigating employmenti¥amatters in California. JeeDkt. No. 56-1 at 1 4-6.)

Defendant is represented by atemmational law firm with 10 offices in California that “has
17
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defended clients in more tharn700 employment-related class antlemive actions” in the past
five years. Seehttps://www.littler.con/practice-areas/class-actions.

Class Counsel attests thley thoroughly investigate@laintiffs’ claims, exchanged
extensive discovery with Defendant, and engageao rounds of prigte mediation before
reaching a settlement that is fair and reabtanto the Class given the legal uncertainties
underlying Plaintiffs’ claims andsks of continued litigation.See generallpkt. Nos. 56-2 &
58-1;see alsdkt. No. 58 at 18 (“In the face of BEndant['s] competing arguments and the
potential uncertainties, Plairfsf Counsel believes that theragd-upon settlement fairly
compensates Class Members for wages andtmenallegedly owed.”).) Class Counsel’s
experience in California wage-anddr litigation and their asseoti that the settlement is fair,
adequate, and reasonabigports final approvalf the settlementSee Hanlon150 F.3d at 1026;
see also DIRECTV, Inc221 F.R.D. at 528 (“Great weightascorded to the recommendation of
counsel, who are most closely acquainted wighféttts of the underlyinlitigation.”) (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted).

f. Presence of a Government Participant

No government entity is a party to thisiant however, because Defendant removed this
case pursuant to CAFA, it was required to jatewnotice of the proposed settlement to the
relevant state and federal officigdarsuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1715(Ifee Chan Healthcare Grp.,
PS v. Liberty Mut. Fire Ins. Co344 F.3d 1133, n.2 (“In addition to 88 1332(d) and 1453, CAF/
also includes 88 1711-1715, which relate to approvaktifements in class actions.”). Defendan
served the requisiteotice on March 2, 2020.SéeDkt. No. 65.) As of the date of this Order, no
government entity has raised an ali@n to the proposed settleme@ee28 U.S.C. § 1715(d)
(providing that a court may notaynt final approval of a class amti settlement in a CAFA case
until 90 days after the parties give theio® required by section 1715(b)).

g. Reaction of Class Members

The Settlement Administrator attests #h4® class members wemailed notice of the

settlement, and notice was ultimigtansuccessful as to fiveads members. (See Dkt. No. 63,

Ex. B at 11 7, 10.) As of the final approvahhag, the Court received one objection concerning
18
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the award of attorneys’ feesSdeDkt. No. 61.) “Courts have repeatedly recognized that the
absence of a large number of objections tcop@sed class action H#ement raises a strong
presumption that the terms of a proposedscézstiement action are favorable to the class
members.”Garner v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. CNo. CV 08 1365 CW (EMC), 2010 WL
1687832, at *14 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 22, 2010) (internal gioin marks and citation omitted). Thus,
the Court “may appropriately inféhat a class action settlementair, adequate, and reasonable
when few class members object told. (internal quotation markand citation omitted).

In sum, the fairness factors weigh in faedgranting Plaintiffs’ maon for final approval
of the class action settlement.

2. TheBluetooth Factors

Given that this settlementas reached prior to class ¢ecation, the Court must look
beyond theChurchill factors and examine thetdement for evidence afollusion with an even
higher level of scrutinySee Bluetootl654 F.3d at 946. The question here is whether the
settlement was the result of good faith, arersgth negotiations or fraud and collusidee id.In
determining whether the tement is the result of collusion, césifmust be particularly vigilant
not only for explicitcollusion, but also for more subtlgss that class counsel have allowed
pursuit of their own self-intereand that of certain class mem&é¢o infect the negotiations.Id.

at 947. The Ninth Circuit has idefmtid three such signs:

(1) when counsel receive a disportionate distbution of the
settlement, or when the classceives no monetary distribution but
class counsel are amply rewarded;

(2) when the parties negotiate a “clear sailing” arrangement providing

for the payment adttorneys’ fees separadad apart from class funds,

which carries the potential of &bling a defendant to pay class

counsel excessive fees and cosedichange for counsel accepting an

unfair settlement on behalf the class; and

(3) when the parties arrange for fees not awarded to revert to

defendants rather than bdded to the class fund.
Id. at 947 (internal quotation markand citations omitted).

Here, one of the three warning signs thathnth Circuit identified is present—a “clear

sailing” provision in the Settlement Agreemehrtowever, for the reasons described below the
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Court finds no evidence of collies, despite the existencetbie clear sailing provisionSee idat
950 (noting that upon remand the district conay uphold the settlemenbtwithstanding the
presence of all three of tiBuetoothwarning signs).

First, the Court compardise payout to the class—the tN&ettlement Amount—to Class
Counsel’'s unopposed fees untlez Settlement Agreemengee Harris v. Vector Mktg. CorpNo
C-08-5198 EMC, 2011 WL 4831157, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Oct. 12, 2011) (examining “whether a
disproportionate part of the fetnent is being awarded taask counsel” under the settlement
agreement). The Settlementrdgment provides for a maximuaward of $736,200 in attorneys’
fees (33% of the Gross Settlement Amooiit$2,200,000). (Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 1 59.)
However, Plaintiffs’ motion for attorneys’ ds requests less than that amount—$550,000 (25%
the Gross Settlement Amount). TReth Circuit has identified 25%f the total settlement as a
reasonable benchmark for attorneys’ feegPowers v. Eichegr229 F.3d 1249, 1256 (9th Cir.
2000), and the Court concludes ttte# amount requested is not digportionate to, and is indeed
less than, the actual Net Seittlent Amount, which will eceed $1,500,000. Accordingly, the
amount of Class Counsel's award relative to thepato the class doemt evince collusion.

The second warning sign—a clear sailingyision—is present: the Settlement Agreemer
provides that Defendant will not oppose an awar@lass Counsel of $736,200 in attorneys’ fee
to be paid from the @ss Settlement AmountSéeDkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 1 59.) “[T]he very
existence of a clear sailing provision increabedlikelihood that class counsel will have
bargained away somethingwdlue to the class.Bluetooth 654 F.3d at 948 (alteration in
original) (internal quotation marks and citation dedf). Thus, the Court “has a heightened duty
to peer into the provision arsgrutinize closely the relationghbetween attorneys’ fees and
benefit to the class, being eful to avoid unreasonably hidgbes simply because they are
uncontested.”ld. (internal quotation markad citation omitted). Th€ourt concludes that the
existence of the clear sailing provision onaten does not evince collusion, because the fees
awarded are not “unreasonablgihj’ but instead fail within & 25% benchmark established by
the Ninth Circuit. Further, the fees aret disproportionate tthe class payout.

Finally, the third warning sign—whether therfpas have arranged for fees not awarded t
20
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the class to revert to defendants eattihan be added to the class fusekBluetooth,654 F.3d at
948—is not present here. Instetg non-reversionary Settlement Agreement provides that an
fees not awarded become partld Net Settlement Amount to bestributed to class members.
(SeeDkt. No. 58-1, Ex. A at 62 (“If the Court awds less than the amount requested for the
Class Counsel’s attorneys’ fees and experteesemainder will becomgart of the [Net
Settlement Amount].”).)

Notwithstanding the existenoé the clear sailing provien, the Court finds that the
settlement did not result from, and was ndéiuenced by, collusion. First, the Settlement
Agreement adequately satisfies the class meshbkims, which is riéected in part by the
existence of only one objeoti to the settlement.SéeDkt. No. 61 (objecting to “taking the
attorney’s fee from [the] settleme[amount],” and asserting thie fee should inetd “be solely
... billed to [Defendant] alofig) Second, the Court finds noidence of explicit collusion here,
where the parties exchanged discovery andgatya settlement discussions overseen by an
experienced neutral mediator bef@greeing on this settlemer@lass Counsel attests that “[a]t
all times, the Parties[ | remad adverse, their negotiatiowere non-collusive, and at arm’s
length.” (Dkt. No. 58-1 at  17.) Based on theuraof the mediation pcess and the parties’
conduct during this litigation, theddrt is satisfied thahe Settlement Agreesnt is the product of
serious, informed, non-collug@ negotiations.

The eight fairness factors sugtjéhat the settlement is faadequate and reasonable, and
the Court is satisfied that thetdement was not the result oflession between the parties. As
discussed below, the lone objection to theppised settlement does mbiange the Court’s
determination. $eeDkt. No. 61.)

3. Objection

Class member Maria Lara objed¢o paying the attorneys’ds “from [her] settlement” and
asserts that Defendant shoplaly such fees on its ownld() As previously discussed, the
Settlement Agreement’s attorneys’ fees provistates that such fees are paid from the Gross
Settlement Amount, not the N8ettlement Amount from whictlass members receive their

individual payments. Payment of attornefees from the GrosSettlement Amount is
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appropriate.See Boeing Co. v. Van Gemd&44 U.S. 472, 478 (1980) (“]Aitigant or a lawyer
who recovers a common fund for thenbét of persons other than higikor his client is entitled
to a reasonable attorney’s feerfr the fund as a whole.”).

Accordingly, the Court concludesathfinal approval is appropriate.

Il. Motion for Attorneys’ Fees, Costs,and Class Representative Incentive Awards

As previously discussed, the Settlem&gteement provides for a maximum of $736,200
(one-third of the Gross SettlenteAmount), “in a speic amount to be determined by the Court,
to cover Class Counsel’s atteys’ fees. (Dkt. No. 58-1 A at 1 60.) The Settlement
Agreement further provides for reimbursemen€tdss Counsel’s litigation expenses, up to
$20,000. Id.) Finally, the Settlement Agreement prde$ that the named Plaintiffs will each
receive a $2,000 “Service Award’rftheir time and effort in msecuting this lawsuit.ld. at
54.) The Court addresses in turn Plaintiffeltion for attorneys’ fegditigation costs, and
incentive awards.

A. Attorneys’ Fees

“While attorneys’ fees and costs may beaated in a certified class action where so
authorized by law or the parsieagreement, Fed. R. Civ. Pro. BB(courts have an independent
obligation to ensure that the awalile the settlement itself, is reasable, even if the parties have
already agreed to an amounBluetooth 654 F.3d at 941. In diversifictions such as this, state
law applies to determine the right ®et and the method foalculating them.See Mangold v.
California Pub. Utils. Comm’n67 F.3d 1470, 1478-79 (9th Cir. 199%s Plaintiffs’ underlying
claims are state law claims, the Court maygply California law on attorneys’ feeSee Vizcaino
v. Microsoft Corp.290 F.3d 1043, 1047 (9th Cir. 2002).

The California Supreme Court has held ttaurts have discretion to choose among two
different methods for calculatingraasonable attorney’s fee awai$ee Laffitte v. Robert Half
Int’l Inc., 1 Cal. 5th 480, 504 (2016).he first is the “percentageethod,” where the fee is
calculated “as a percentage share of a recdv@mmon fund or the monetary value of [the]
plaintiffs’ recovery.” Id. at 489. The second approacHh[ifhe lodestarmethod, or more

accurately the lodestar—multiplier methodd. at 489. Under the lod&ar method, the fee is
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calculated “by multipling the number of hours reasonabkpended by counsel by a reasonable
hourly rate,” then “increas[ing] or decreas[ingiie lodestar figure basenh “a variety of . . .
factors, including the quality @he representation, the novelty asaiplexity of the issues, the
results obtained, and the contingent risk presentiet.(citation omitted). “The choice of a fee
calculation method is generally ongthin the discretion of the tda@ourt, the goal under either
the percentage or lodestar apmtoaeing the award of a reasonalgle to compensate counsel fof
their efforts.” Id. at 504. This approach gfis with the Ninth CircuitSee Vizcaino290 F.3d at
1047 (*Under Ninth Circuit law, #district court has discretion in common fund cases to choos
either the percentage-of-the-fuadthe lodestamethod.”).

Both the California SupreenCourt and the Ninth Circuiecommend that whether a court
uses the lodestar or percentageecovery method, the court should perform a cross-check usi
the other method to confirm the reasonablenediseofee (e.g., if thpercentage-of-recovery
method is applied, a cross-checkiwtihe lodestar method will reakif the amount requested is
unreasonable in light of ¢hamount of work done)See, e.g., Bluetogth54 F.3d at 944-45;
Laffitte, 1 Cal. 5th at 504 (“A lodestar cross-ckec . provides a mechanism for bringing an
objective measure of the work performed into¢hkeulation of a reasonabattorney fee.”).

1. Percentage-of-Recoveriethod

Plaintiffs request $550,000 faes, representing 25% oftl$2.2 million Gross Settlement
Amount. Defendant does not oppose the requesthamthe Court received any objections from
class members regarding tmmountrequested in Plaintiffs’ motiofor attorneys’ fees. The 25%
figure aligns with the “benchmid’ established by the Ninth @iuit “for attorneys’ fees
calculations under the percentagferecovery approach.Powers 229 F.3d at 1256. However,
the Court cannot simply apptiie benchmark rate but musstead consider “all of the
circumstances of the case” to detarenwhether it is appropriateSee Vizcaina290 F.3d at 1048
(“[Clourts cannot rationally apply any particular percentage—whetherpE3d@nt, 25 percent or
any other number—in the abstract, without rafeseto all the circumanhces of the case.”)
(internal quotation magkand citation omitted). Relevatitcumstances include “exceptional

results for the class”; “complexityf the issues and the risks” lgfgation; and counsel’s financial
23
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burden in litigating the case (i.e., contingéee agreement and time and expeng#)at 1048-50.

Here, however, even if all of those factorguably weigh in favor oPlaintiffs’ requested
award, the lodestar cross-check demonstratesthat award is unreasonable in this case base
on the hours Class Counsel actually expendb Bluetooth654 F.3d at 942-43 (noting that
where a 25% award “would yield windfall profitsrfdass counsel in lighaf the hours spent on
the case, courts should adjtlst benchmark percentage or eaydlhe lodestar ntbod instead”);
see also Laffittel Cal. 5th at 504 (“[T]he goal under eitlithe percentage dwdestar approach
[is] the award of a reasonable fimecompensate counsel for theffoets.”). Thus, the Court in its
discretion will initially apply the lodestar method.

2. LodestarMethod

The lodestar figure consists of “the numb&hours reasonably expended multiplied by
the reasonable hourly ratePLCM Grp. v. Drexler22 Cal. 4th 1084, 1095 (2000). A reasonabl
hourly rate is defined dthat prevailing in the comomity for similar work.” Id. As to the
computation of hours, “trial aots must carefully reviewtmrney documentation of hours
expended.”Ketchum v. Mose®24 Cal. 4th 1122, 1132 (2001).

a. Reasonabldrate

To determine whether counsetisurly rates are reasonableg Gourt looks to the “hourly
amount to which attorneys of like skill the area would typically be entitledRetchum 24 Cal.
4th at 1133. “The fee applicant has the burdeprofiucing satisfactory evidence, in addition to
the affidavits of its counsehat the requested rates ardime with those prevailing in the
community for similar sevices of lawyers of reasonablyroparable skill and reputation.Jordan
v. Multnomah Cty.815 F.2d 1258, 1263 (9th Cir.1987). In addition, Civil Local Rule 54-5(b)(3
requires the party seeking fees to submit “[#&fadlescription of relevant qualifications and
experience and a statement of the customary hohdgges of each such person or of comparab
prevailing hourly rates or other irdition of value of the services.”

Plaintiffs submit the declarations of Mr. famin and Ms. Villanueva in support of their
request for fees. Ms. Villanuevsa litigation associate at Bamin Law Group, P.C.; she holds &

bachelor's degree from the University of Gania (“UC), San Diego, and a J.D. from UC
24
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Hastings College of the Law. kP No. 56-1 at {1 2, 6.) She hasrg four years of experience
litigating California employment law matterdd.(at 1 4-6.) Her “standard litigation rate is
$375.00 per hour.”Id. at § 7.) Mr. Benjamiiis “the Managing Partmedf Benjamin Law Group,
P.C.” (Dkt. No. 56-2 at  2.) He earned he€lhelor’'s degree from UC Berkeley and his J.D.
from UC Hastings; he has nearly six yeargxgberience litigating California employment law
matters. Id. at 1 3-13.) His standardte “is $475.00 per hour.”ld. at T 20.)

These billing rates are reasbfeand in line with prevailingates in this district for
lawyers of comparable experience, skill, and reputat®ee, e.g., Roberts v. Marshalls of CA,
LLC, No. 13-cv-04731-MEJ, 2018 WL 510286, at *14-15 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 23, 2018) (approvin
rates between $300 and $750 per hdarje Magsafe Apple Power Adapter Litilo. 5:09-CV-
01911-EJD, 2015 WL 428105, at *12 (N.D. Cah.Ja0, 2015) (“In the Bay Area, reasonable
hourly rates for partners ran§em $560 to $800, for associates from $285 to $510, and for
paralegals and litigation support stafim $150 to $240.”) (collecting cases).

b. Hours Expended

Ms. Villanueva attests that she “personakpended 35.53 hours on this case.” (Dkt. No,

56-1 at 1 9.) In support, seabmits time entries for specifiasks between January 8, 2018 and
November 4, 2019.SeeDkt. No. 56-1, Ex. A.) Mr. Beamin attests that Class Counsel
expended 159.75 total hours on this case throlmtember 4, 2019, (Dkt. No. 56-2 at  22), and
submits invoices for specific tasperformed through November 4, 201€dDkt. No. 56-2, Ex.
A). The invoices are sufficiently detailed amdlect hours Class Couglsreasonably expended on
behalf of Plaintiffs.
C. LodestarCalculation

Class Counsel attests that its lodest&70,693.75, representing 159.75 hours of work o
this case through November 4, 2019. (Dkt. No258-1 22.) Mr. Bemamin attests that the
lodestar “does not reflect all of the time fallir attorneys staffed on this matter, including
Attorneys Brian Hawes, Esqg. and Dominique TlagnEsq., have invested in this case because
counsel would need to reconstruct time for thaerneys that work priarily on contingency fee

matters.” (d.) Further, Mr. Benjamin attests thabse “[a]ttorneys did not contemporaneously
25
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capture and bill all time workeah this matter, so reconstructing that time would require a
substantial amount of time anelsources by counsel, and requsubstantial tim from the Court
for the Court’s review.” I¢l.)

Courts retain discretion to apply a positivenegative enhancement, or “multiplier” whereg
appropriate.See Ketchup®4 Cal. 4th at 1132 (noiy that the lodestar may be adjusted based o
factors including “(1) the novelty drdifficulty of the questionswolved, (2) the skill displayed in
presenting them, (3) the extent to which the nab@itee litigation precludd other employment by
the attorneys, [and] (4) the cordent nature ofhe fee award”)see also Bluetoott®54 F.3d at
942 (noting that a lodestar may be adjustquard or downward by an appropriate positive or
negative multiplier reflecting a host of reasdealess factors, including the quality of the
representation, the beitedbtained for the cks, the complexity angovelty of the issues
presented, and the risk of nonpayment”) (in&iquotation marks argtation omitted).

As to the first two factors noted Ketchum the California Suprem@ourt cautioned that

“the difficulty of a legal quesbtin and the quality of representatiare already encompassed in the

lodestar.” See Ketchup®4 Cal. 4th at 1138-39 (“A more diffitt legal questiotypically requires
more attorney hours, and a more skillful and experienced attorney will command a higher ho

rate.”). Here, there is no indication thag thage-and-hour issues weravel or that Class

urly

Counsel exhibited “exceptional representation” by “exceed[ing] the quality of representation {hat

would have been provided by an attorney of caraple skill and experience billing at the hourly
rate used in theotestar calculation.’See idat 1139. However, “the extent to which the nature
the litigation precluded other employment” by Cl@ssinsel and “the contingent nature of the fe
award” warrant a positive multiplieiSee idat 1132.

First, Mr. Benjamin attests that:

This case has been litigated over a two-year period during which [he]
paid at least three employee-attorneys whom were staffed on this
matter at various timesuring its pendency. Due to limited resources
as a small law firm, my firm wasnable to take other matters during
this time.

(Dkt. No. 56-2 at { 21.) At thienal approval hearing Mr. Benjamularified that this action has
required the majority of hisrin’s resources and attentiomse January 2018. Second, Class
26
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Counsel undertook this litigatioading a risk of nonpayment becatiB&intiffs were represented
on a pure contingency basis.SgeDkt. No. 56-1 at { 8.) Third, Mr. Benjamin attests that the
hours expended for purposes of the lodestar cdilonldo not reflect the total time his firm spent
on this litigation. In sum, a posie multiplier is warranted.

That said, awarding the fees requestere—3$550,000—would result amultiplier of
7.8. Such an enhancement i$ reasonable and is instead “tartside the nonal range.” See

Laffitte, 1 Cal. 5th at 504. As theaffitte court explained:

If a comparison between the pertage and lodestar calculations
produces an imputed multiplier far outside the normal range,
indicating that the percentageefewill reward counsel for their
services at an extraordinarytegaeven accounting for the factors
customarily used to enhance a lodegee, the trial court will have
reason to reexamine its choice of a percentage.

Id. The Ninth Circuit has regnized that multipliers geraly range from 1 to 4See Vizcaino
290 F.3d at 1051 n.6.

A multiplier of 4 is warranted here based on the contingent nature of the fee agreeme
Mr. Benjamin’s explanation at tHmal approval hearing that this action required the majority of
his firm’s resources and att@n since January 2018. Thehiend multiplier is warranted
because it would result in a percentage obvery of 12.9% of th&ross Settlement Amount,
which is below “the usual raefjawarded in common fund case3ee Vizcaino290 F.3d at 1047
(noting that “20-30% [is] the usual range” ilnamon fund cases). The Couecognizes that the
lodestar most likely undeounts the attorney timacurred in this mier given that some
attorneys did not contemporaneously record their time. That is a problem, however, of Clasg
Counsel’'s own making. If Class Counsel wisheset®ive credit for time expended representing
a class, then they—as most ateys already do—must carmporaneously record their time. It is
unreasonable to expect a claspay for time that counsel calihot even bother to record.
Reconstructing time long t&f the fact is not appropriate, esgdly for counselith a fiduciary
duty to the class.

Accordingly, the Court awards Class Coursttbrneys’ fees ithe amount $282,775.

I
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B. Litigation Costs

“There is no doubt that an attorney wha lseeated a common fund for the benefit of the
class is entitled to reimbwesent of reasonable litigati@xpenses from that fund Ontiveros
303 F.R.D. at 375 (citations omitted) o that end, district couris the Ninth Circuit regularly
award litigation costs and expensesvage-and-hour class actiorSee, e.g., Nwabueze v. AT&T
Inc., No. C 09-01529 SI, 2014 WL 324262, at *2 (N.D. Cal. Jan. 29, 204Garde v.
Support.com, IngNo. C12-0609 JSC, 2013 WL 1283325, at *13 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 26, 2013).
Here, Plaintiffs request $12,431.44 in litigation costs representingtidtigexpenses through
November 4, 2019. (Dkt. No. 56 at 16-17.) RMiffis never submittedn updated request for
costs, so this final approvalder can only approve what has beabmitted. In support of their
request Plaintiffs submit the declaration of M8lanueva, who attests tine amount, (Dkt. No.
56-1 at  11), and submits a summary of cqBtkt. No. 56-1, Ex. B at 10). The summary of
costs itemizes the costs incudréncluding $10,000 for private mediaticall of the costs appear
reasonable. See id. The total amount reflected in the summary of costs is $12,428d1%. (
That amount is also reflectedtime invoice submitted as an exhitwtMr. Benjamin’s declaration.
(SeeDkt. No. 56-2, Ex. A at 11.)

Accordingly, the Court awardsd®htiffs $12,428.44 in costs.

C. Incentive Awards

“Incentiveawardsare fairly typical in class action case®bdriguez v. W. Publ’'g Corp.
563 F.3d 948, 958 (9th Cir. 2009) (distinguishing ins@nawards from incdive agreements, the
latter of which are “entered ints part of the initial retentioof counsel” and “put class counsel
and the contracting class representativesantonflict position from day one”). However, the
decision to approve such an award matter within the Court’s discretiorin re Mego Fin. Corp.
Sec. Litig, 213 F.3d 454, 463 (9th Cir. 2000). Incentiveaeds “are intended toompensate class
representatives for work done orhbé# of the class, to make digr financial or reputation risk
undertaken in bringing the action,darsometimes to recoge their willingness tact as a private
attorney general.’Rodriguez563 F.3d at 958-59. Although ind¢@ awards are viewed more

favorably than incentive agreements, excessiverdsy'may put the class representative in a
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conflict with the class and present a considerdlanger of individualbringing cases as class
actions principally to increase their own levggdo attain a remunerative settlement for
themselves and then trading on that tage in the course of negotiationsd. at 960 (internal
guotation marks and citation omitted). Thus, “distoourts must be vigila in scrutinizing all
incentive awards to determine whether they dgdtne adequacy of the class representatives.”
Radcliffe v. Experian Info. Sols. In@15 F.3d 1157, 1164 (9th Cir. 2013).

In determining whether ancentive award is reasonabt®urts generally consider:

(1) the risk to the class represative in commencing a suit, both
financial and otherwise; (2) the woiety and personal difficulties
encountered by the class represevea (3) the amount of time and
effort spent by the class representative; (4) the duration of the
litigation; and (5) the personal benefit (or lack thereof) enjoyed by the
class representative as a result of the litigation.

Covillo v. Specialtys CaféNo. C—11-00594-DMR, 2014 WL 954516, at *8 (N.D. Cal. Mar. 6,
2014) (quotingvan Vranken v. Atl. Richfield CR01 F. Supp. 294, 299 (N.D. Cal. 1995)). A
class representative must jistin incentive awarthrough “evidence demotnating the quality
of plaintiff's representative sere,” such as “substantial effotesken as class representative to
justify the discrepancy between [his] adi@nd those of the unnamed plaintiff@lberto v.
GMRI, Inc, 252 F.R.D. 652, 669 (E.D. Cal. 2008). Further, district courts must evaluate each
incentive award individuallySee Statgr327 F.3d at 977.

In support of the requested incentive awaRlaintiffs submit the declaration of Class

Counsel Mr. Benjaminyho attests that:

Plaintiffs assisted my office witlinvestigation of the claims by,
among other things, participating multiple telgphone conferences
to discuss Defendant’s policies aphctices and their experiences.
Each named Plaintiff also supes®d other employees and provided
insight on potential class memberdass discovery, and practices
beyond their specific work locatms. Each Plaiiff spent time
locating and producing documentgateng to their time working for
Defendant and participated in arformal interview before counsel
for both parties. Plaintiffs also risked being responsible for
Defendant's costs if the case wast and risk to their future
employment prospects damaged bg tact that they are a named
plaintiff in a clss action wage and houmisuit against a former
employer.

(Dkt. No. 56-2 at  26.) Plaintsf submissions include no decléioms from the named Plaintiffs
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themselves attesting to the@udividual contributions to the case.hils, the Court is unable to
assess the relevant factors onrafividual basis to determinghether incentive awards are
justified for each Plaintiff.See Statqr827 F.3d at 977. Howevehe requested amount ($8,000)
is reasonable on its face given the Grosde®aeint Amount of $2,200,000 and a Net Settlement
Amount of over $1,500,0005ee Lopez v. Bank of Am., NXo. 10-cv-01207-JST, 2015 WL
5064085, at *8 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 27, 2015) (nagfithat incentive awards of $5,000 are
presumptively reasonable the Ninth Circuit) (citingHarris, 2012 WL 381202, at *7 (collecting
cases)). Further, and more importantfye incentive awardsf $2,000 each are not
disproportionate to the average classnher’s recovery, which is over $3,008ee Lopez2015
WL 5064085, at *8 (“When determining if an incentpayment is reasonablegurts consider the
proportionality between the inecgve payment and the rangeathss members’ settlement
awards.”) (collecting cases). Thukere is no indication that indre awards of $2,000 each will
“destroy the adequacy of the class represefetsitiby “creat[ing] an unacceptable disconnect
between the interests of [the class repregemes] and class cousls on the one hand, and
members of the class on the athéecause the individual incewe awards are less than the
average class member’s recoveBeeRadcliffe 715 F.3d at 1164.

Accordingly, the Court concluddhat incentive awards 62,000 to each named Plaintiff
are reasonable.
lll.  Settlement Administrator Costs

The Settlement Agreement provides that 8ettlement Administrator will be paid a
maximum of $9,000 from the GrosstiEment Amount for its feesnd costs. (Dkt. No. 58-1, Ex.
A at 1 68.) Plaintiffs’ motiotfior final approval requests $7,568r “Simpluris’ total fees and
costs for services in connectiontivithe administration” of the settlement. (Dkt. No. 58 at 21.)
The requested amount “includes feesl costs incurred to-date,\&sll as anticipated fees and
costs for completioof the settlement axinistration.” (d.) In support, Plaintiffs submit the
declaration of Mr. Salinas, who attests to the amount requastedetails the tasks Simpluris
completed as of February 25, 202@e¢Dkt. No. 63, Ex. B at 1 3-10, 14.)

The Court concludes that the requestdthinistrative costs are reasonable.
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CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated abpthee Court GRANTS Plaintiffgnotion for final approval of
the parties’ class action settlemie In addition, the Court GRANT IN PART Plaintiffs’ motion
for attorneys’ fees and costpecifically, the Court awardsehollowing: $282,775 in attorneys’
fees; $12,428.44 in litigation costs; $2,000 each as incentive awards to Plaintiffs Almendarez
Dangerfield, Naples, and Uschold; and $7,&Dthe Settlement Administrator.

In accordance with the Northern DistiscProcedural Guidance for Class Action
Settlements, “[w]ithin 21 days after the dibtrtion of the settlemeritinds and payment of
attorneys’ fees,” Class Coung#iall file “a Post-Distributin Accounting” that provides the

following:

The total settlement fund, the total number of class members, the total
number of class members to whowtice was sent and not returned
as undeliverable, the number dampercentage of claim forms
submitted, the number and percentafjept-outs, the number and
percentage of objections, the easge and median recovery per
claimant, the largest drsmallest amounts patd class members, the
method(s) of notice and the methodggpayment to class members,
the number and value of checks washed, the amounts distributed
to each cy pres recipient, the admirative costs, the attorneys’ fees
and costs, the attorneys’ fees imts of percentagef the settlement
fund, and the multiplier, if any.

https://www.cand.uscourts.gov/forms/procedural-ganagafor-class-action-tiements/. Class
Counsel shall “summarize thisfaimation in an easto-read chart thadllows for quick
comparisons with other caseasid “post the Post-Distributiohccounting, incluthg the easy-
toread chart, on theettlement website.See id.

IT 1S SO ORDERED.
Dated:

JACQUELINE SCOTT CORLEY
United States Magistrate Judge
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